RECEIVED

Mar 17 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LEVY ERNEST DUNN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001413

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in failing to rule on the mistrial motion based on prejudicial premature deliberations among three jury members and instead offering the Hobson's choice of proceeding with the three biased jurors in question or removing the three jurors, replacing them with the two alternate jurors, and proceeding with a jury of only eleven members pursuant to Rule 14 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May of 2022,¹ the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Levy Ernest Dunn, for domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature [DVHAN]. (R. 567). On August 19, 2024, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr. Seth Holcomb and Mindy Lipinski represented Appellant at trial. Brittany Scott and Elterrice Westfield prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty. Judge Morgan sentenced Appellant to eighteen (18) years. (R. 569) A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on August 22, 2024. This appeal follows.

¹ The indictment number is 2021-GS-23-08129 but where the year is listed below the 2021 is scratched out and 2022 is handwritten. In the body of the indictment May 17, 2022, is stamped as the date when the Grand Jury convened. (R. 567).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial judge's decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. State v. Rowlands, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). “Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge.” Id. at 457–58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Although the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, the appellate court must reverse the ruling if the decision was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010)).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in failing to rule on the mistrial motion based on prejudicial premature deliberations among three jury members and instead offering the Hobson's choice of proceeding with the three biased jurors or removing the three jurors, replacing them with the two alternate jurors, and proceeding with a jury of only eleven members pursuant to Rule 14 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Relevant Facts

The jury found Appellant guilty of domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature against his wife, Nneka Rita Dunn, who is also known as Nneka Rita Chidibere Okeke. (R. 262, lines 19-24). Rita testified that she and Appellant argued over the car keys and when she did not give the keys to him, Appellant began to punch and stab her. (R. 266, lines 9-24). Rita ran out of the apartment and downstairs where neighbors helped her. (R. 282, lines 10-21).

On the third day of trial, August 21, 2024, the State and the Defense rested and the jury was excused for lunch at approximately 12:48 PM. (R. 482, lines 1-14). The judge instructed the jury, "So again, please don't discuss the case." (R. 482, lines 10-11). While eating lunch at the Society Sandwich Shop two employees of the Public Defender Office who were not involved in the case overheard three jury members discussing the case. (R. 482, line 23 – 483, lines 1-6). The matter was brought to the attention of the judge and the lawyers involved in the case.

When the jury returned from lunch the judge asked if anyone ate lunch at the Society Sandwich Shop. (R. 483, line 7 – 484, lines 1-7). Three jurors raised their hands indicating they ate lunch at the sandwich shop. (R. 484, lines 8-10). The judge excused the jury but questioned the three jurors individually². Juror number forty (#40) denied discussing the case. (R. 484, line 19 – 485, lines 1-25). Juror number twenty-nine (#29) did not recall discussing the case. (R. 486,

² The jurors were not placed under oath.

line 2 – 487, lines 1-15). Juror number forty-nine (#49) did not recall speaking about the case. (R. 487, line 16 – 488, lines 1-20).

Counsel for Appellant moved for a mistrial. (R. 488, line 24 – 489, lines 1-23). Counsel for Appellant noted that two of the jurors curiously could not recall the recent lunch conversations, one juror looked at the ceiling and did not make direct eye contact when being questioned and another juror looked away or down when being questioned. (R. 489, lines 6-14). Counsel for Appellant also noted the juror’s possible reason for not being candid was concern that they had done something wrong and did not want to get in trouble. (R. 489, lines 14-17). Counsel told the judge, “But you, also, now the situation of putting them back in the jury and allowing them to decide and does that impact his ability to get a fair and impartial trial? So The Defense still feels that a mistrial is warranted giving the circumstances and memorialize the testimony to protect the record.” (R. 489, lines 17-23).

The judge then questioned the employees from the Public Defender Office³. One employee, Ms. Burkette, told the judge, “So the girl and the guy with the goatee, their backs were to me, so I heard more the first guy who came. He had said – he joked about not guilty and started laughing. He said something about 20 years. And somebody said, No, I think it’s five. When they were asking for the check, he said, What are they going to do fire us? Then they got up and left.” (R. 490, lines 15-22). Ms. Walker, an attorney with the Public Defender Office, told the judge, “I was sitting with my back to the individuals behind us, I heard the phrase, not guilty and then loud laughter from a man’s voice. I heard 20 years. And then I heard, I think it’s five. I don’t know if it was a man or woman that said those things, but 20 years was a man. I can’t

³ The employees were not placed under oath but as noted, one was an attorney and as such, an officer of the court.

remember who, if it was a man or woman. Then I heard, I think we're going to be late and what are they going to do about it. That was exactly the things that I could hear and decipher." (R. 493, lines 6-15).

Appellant again moved for a mistrial. Counsel for Appellant argued:

Just quickly, I would note, Your Honor, they texted me leaving the restaurant. They came to me afterwards. They said we have concerns, this is what we overheard. Ms. Walker is an officer of the court. I don't see any reason why she would have to say this. I find it very curious that the 20 years they're talking about is what the potential crime carries.

So my concern is that they're investigating this, they're investigating the length of it. They're concerned about the potential penalty, how it may impact their decision, whether they would consider the CDV-HAN or lesser included offense, that they would be concerned it doesn't carry enough time and that might impact their decision.

I understand they said that, but obviously, it's in the Court's discretion. But my concern is that my client is now – You know, I think there is prima facie evidence that they were deliberating during lunch and discussing the case, that there may have been more overheard and they were just less than candid with the court. For that reason, the Defense feels a mistrial is the only possible outcome.

(R. 493, line 19 – 494, lines 1-16).

The judge responded:

All right. One thing I – I obviously heard the discussion and I don't doubt the credibility of Ms. Burkette and Ms. Walker at all. And what they say they heard is five years and 20 years. Looking at it from both sides – and I understand The Defense's position. I certainly am taking that into consideration. First of all, the jurors said they did not talk about this case. And certainly, five years, 20 years could be about something else. They both – or all three of them denied having any discussion about guilty or not guilty. But it is certainly possible that a decision of five years or 20 years could have been something else. I do recognize the coincidence, for lack of a better word, in that discussion. So certainly, there is the appearance that they may have been discussing it, but they have denied it.

(R. 494, line 17 – 495, lines 1-8). Counsel for Appellant again moved for a mistrial arguing:

I understand that, but I think when you hear that [laughing about finding my client not guilty] coupled with the five and 20 coupled with the fact that they're jurors in the particular case getting ready to begin deliberations, I think it's not a stretch to

say that that's what they were laughing about. So my concern is that prejudice, that there is some predetermined prejudice against my client and they feel like a not guilty verdict is a laughable matter. I mean, I don't know how more prejudicial you could get in terms of categorizing my client's ability to get a fair trial.

For that reason, I do believe prejudice has been shown. I don't think it's just some innocuous comment. I think, overall, it appears they were discussing the case in general. And I think for that reason it would be – I think a mistrial is warranted.

(R. 496, lines 8-24).

The trial judge did not rule on the mistrial motion. Instead, he asked, "Let me ask you this, and I'm deciding in a minute what I'm going to do. Is there any party that would agree to go to 11 under Rule 14? Rule 14 certainly allows the parties, if they agree in writing, for a jury verdict to go with a jury of less than 12." (R. 496, line 25 – 497, lines 1-5). The judge then gave counsel for Appellant an opportunity to discuss the options with her client as well as time for the attorneys for the State to discuss the situation among themselves. (R. 497 lines 6-13).

After the break the attorney for the State told the judge, "Your Honor, we find that there is not prejudice to the Defense and we'd ask that the jury remain. However, given the way that you've ruled and offered up the Rule 14, if that choice is that the prejudice you believe is an issue and we know the Defendant objects to that, we would then want to do Rule 14 as opposed to a mistrial. And we would do what's required, which is the writing through the criminal court that we both agree to 11." (R. 497, lines 17-25). Counsel for Appellant told the judge, "I think our position, obviously, we would continue with our motion for a mistrial, but understanding The Court's not inclined that motion – is not inclined to grant that motion, the alternative – the way I presented it to my client, to be clear on the record, is go forward and have those three jurors return, but have 12. Or go forward and have those three jurors removed, but only have 11 and put the two alternates in to fill that gap, we would proceed with 11." (R. 498, lines 3-12).

The judge stated, “So you are – what I’m hearing is both of you are ok if – well, obviously, I hadn’t ruled on the prejudice motion part of it, but you may or may not have an idea the way I am going to rule. But you would be fine if I excuse all three and we go forward with 11, is that what I’m hearing?” (R. 498, lines 13-18). Counsel for Appellant answered:

Yes. The way I presented it is if the Court doesn’t grant the mistrial, the options presented to The Defendant was that those three jurors, still realizing from being questioned or otherwise, there may still be some prejudice that exist even if it – or some bias, but doesn’t rise to the level of prejudice. But some less that deliberations still occurred, that I believe that that option would be that he could go forward not with those three, they would be excused, but that he could go forward with 11 and two alternates would step in to fill the gap, we would opt for 11.

(R. 498, line 19 – 499, lines 1-5). The State continued to argue no prejudice resulted warranting a mistrial but preferred the option of proceeding with eleven rather than a mistrial. (R. 499, lines 8-16).

The judge made findings stating:

All right. For the record, the parties agree to condense it to writing going forward. I think based on what I have heard from the jurors and what I’ve heard from both Ms. Burkette and Ms. Walker, certainly, there was some discussions there. It is some concern to me that there were discussions among the three that did mention five years, 20 years, not guilty, reference to that does give me some concern. And I think in exploring and analyzing the situation, I think from a due process standpoint is to excuse the three that were brought before me, both parties agree to go forward with 11. I will move the two alternates into the jury as regular jury members now and go forward with those 11.

It is some concern that there is some information, again, from Ms. Walker and Ms. Burkette, if there was some discussion. Flip side of that is the prejudice argument made from the State, also, is persuasive. However, there could be some prejudice there. It’s believing Ms. Walker or Ms. Burkette, which certainly they’re very credible, and believing these three jurors saying they didn’t discuss it. So to me, I think the better option here is to go forward with 11 jurors. We’ll excuse those three, move the two into the regular jury and that will be memorialized in writing. The parties agree to do that after closing and charge.

(R. 499, line 24 – 501, line 1).

The judge excused the three jurors and the trial continued. (R. 501, line 7 – 502, lines 1-13). After the jury found Appellant guilty, counsel for Appellant renewed the motion for a mistrial. (R. 560, lines 8-15). The motion was again denied. (R. 560, lines 16-20). The Rule 14 agreement was marked as Court’s Exhibit #2. (R. 566).

Discussion

In State v. Aldret, 333 S.C. 307, 315, 509 S.E.2d 811, 815 (1999) (n. #6 omitted), the South Carolina Supreme Court established the procedure trial courts should follow upon an allegation of premature deliberations writing:

Accordingly, we hold the burden is on the party alleging premature deliberations to establish prejudice. Further, to assist the trial courts of this state, we set forth the following suggested procedure to follow in cases in which an allegation of premature deliberations arises.

If such an allegation arises during trial, the trial court should conduct a hearing to ascertain if, in fact, such premature deliberations occurred, and if the deliberations were prejudicial. If requested by the moving party, the court may *voir dire* the jurors and, if practicable, “tailor a cautionary instruction to correct the ascertained damage.” United States v. Resko, 3 F.3d at 695. If the trial court determines the deliberations were prejudicial, such findings should be set forth on the record, and a new trial ordered.

The trial judge in the present case erred in failing to find that premature deliberations occurred, failing to find prejudice, and failing to order a new trial. The mistrial motion should have been granted.

Premature Jury Deliberations

The evidence supports that the three jurors in question were improperly discussing the case at lunch, contrary to their testimony otherwise. The judge found “very credible” the testimony of both Ms. Burkette and Ms. Walker about what they overheard the jurors discussing – laughing at

the possibility of a not guilty verdict and the mention of the numbers five and twenty. (R. 500, lines 19-20) Appellant was charged with DVHAN which happened to carry a maximum sentence of twenty years pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-65(B). The judge stated, “I think based on what I have heard from the jurors and what I’ve heard from both Ms. Burkette and Ms. Walker, certainly, there was some discussions there. It is some concern to me that there were discussions among the three that did mention five years, 20 years, not guilty, reference to that does give me some concern. And I think in exploring and analyzing the situation, I think from a due process standpoint is to excuse the three that were brought before me, both parties agree to go forward with 11.” (R. 500, lines 1-13). The trial judge erred in failing to find that the three jury members prematurely discussed the case at lunch.

In State v. Aldret, 333 S.C. 307, 311–12, 509 S.E.2d 811, 813 (1999), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The rationale for prohibiting premature jury deliberations was set forth in McGuire, *supra*⁴, in which we stated:

[A] jury should not begin discussing a case, nor deciding the issues, until all of the evidence, the argument of counsel, and the charge of the law is completed.... The reason for the rule is apparent. The human mind is constituted such that when a juror declares himself, touching any controversy, he is apt to stand by his utterances to the other jurors in defiance of evidence. A fair trial is more likely if each juror keeps his own counsel until the appropriate time for deliberation. Similarly, other courts have recognized premature deliberations may affect the fundamental fairness of a trial. See United States v. Resko, 3 F.3d 684 (3d Cir.1993), *cert. denied*, 510 U.S. 1205, 114 S.Ct. 1326, 127 L.Ed.2d 674 (1994)(prohibition against premature deliberations protects defendant's right to a fair trial as well as his or her due process right to place burden on the government to prove its case). Accordingly, we hold premature jury deliberations may affect “fundamental fairness” of a trial such that the trial court may inquire into such allegations and may consider affidavits in support of such allegations.

⁴ State v. McGuire, 272 S.C. 547, 253 S.E.2d 103 (1979).

The discussions in the present case between the three jurors at lunch took place before the arguments of counsel and before the judge's charge on the law. As premature discussions may affect the fundamental fairness of the trial, the judge correctly questioned the three jurors⁵. Although the jurors denied or did not recall discussing the case, the judge believed the three jurors prematurely discussed the case as evidenced by the judge's suggestion he excuse the three jurors in question and allow the trial to proceed with eleven instead of twelve jurors. The judge erred in failing to make a finding with regard to the premature deliberations pursuant to the procedure established by Aldret.

Prejudice

Appellant established prejudice resulting from the premature discussions. Based on the discussions overheard, these three jurors believed that a not guilty verdict was laughable. As argued by trial counsel:

I understand that, but I think when you hear that [laughing about finding my client not guilty] coupled with the five and 20 coupled with the fact that they're jurors in the particular case getting ready to begin deliberations, I think it's not a stretch to say that that's what they were laughing about. So my concern is that prejudice, that there is some predetermined prejudice against my client and they feel like a not guilty verdict is a laughable matter. I mean, I don't how more prejudicial you could get in terms of categorizing my client's ability to get a fair trial. For that reason, I do believe prejudice has been shown.

(R. 496, lines 8-24). Trial counsel additionally argued, "So my concern is that they're investigating this, they're investigating the length of it. They're concerned about the potential penalty, how it may impact their decision, whether they would consider the CDV-HAN or lesser

⁵Trial counsel failed to request that the judge question the remaining eleven jurors about whether they overheard comments by the three excused jurors.

included offense, that they would be concerned it doesn't carry enough time and that might impact their decision." (R. 494, lines 2-8).

In Ethier v. Fairfield Mem'l Hosp., 429 S.C. 649, 657, 842 S.E.2d 355, 359 (2020), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, "The trial court found Killian engaged in premature deliberations, but it concluded the Ethiers failed to prove the requisite prejudice in order to grant a new trial. While we commend the trial court for its thorough post-trial evidentiary hearing, it is clear Killian's conduct severely hampered the fundamental fairness of the trial, and that the circumstances here demonstrate prejudice. Carmichael testified that Killian's comments directly affected her vote, as she initially believed Bibeau was more negligent." While this Court does not have the benefit of testimony from any of the remaining eleven jurors that they overheard the three excused jurors discussing the case and those discussions changed their vote as in Ethier v. Fairfield Mem'l Hosp., this Court has evidence that the three excused jurors were unable to consider a not guilty verdict because to them a not guilty verdict was laughable. As noted by the Court, "Because *Vestry* stands for the principle that less than twelve fair and impartial jurors is perfectly acceptable and is an anomaly in our jurisprudence, we overrule it." Ethier v. Fairfield Mem'l Hosp., 429 S.C. at 656, 842 S.E.2d at 359. The premature deliberations in the present case affected the fundamental fairness of the trial resulting in prejudice. The trial judge erred in failing to find premature discussions resulting in prejudice that required a mistrial. The trial judge erred in refusing to grant the mistrial motion.

In United States v. Resko, 3 F.3d 684, 689–90 (3d Cir. 1993), cited in the Aldret opinion, the Third Circuit wrote:

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