**RECEIVED**

**Mar 03 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County  
Honorable G. D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2024-001413

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

LEVY ERNEST DUNN, III,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

CINDY S. CRICK  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

Demonstrating that fact, the reference to “not guilty” that was deciphered by the jurors’ accusers theoretically could have been an imprudent comment that was directly related to Appellant’s guilt or innocence. However, at the same time and as the trial judge aptly recognized, it *also* could have been something else entirely, including something as simple as an innocuous courtroom-themed jest made in response to one of the jurors at the table spilling a glass of water. Indeed, it did lead to laughter, which would suggest something comical occurred.

Meanwhile, the same ambiguities existed concerning the overheard references to twenty years and the number five, which could have related to many different things that had no connection to the trial whatsoever or might simply have been sarcastic remarks about how much longer the proceedings were going to take. See Swan v. State, 248 A.3d 839, 880 (Del. 2021) (“Two statements taken out of context do not evidence improper jury conduct.”), abrogated on other grounds by Willis v. State, 302 A.3d 417 (Del. 2023); see also United States v. Diaz, 597 F.3d 56, 63 (1st Cir. 2010) (“Conversations between jurors concerning the case they are hearing do not always amount to premature deliberations.”); cf. United States v. Sabhnani, 599 F.3d 215, 249-250 (2d Cir. 2010) (concluding the trial judge properly declined to grant a new trial after finding a claim one of the jurors was overheard saying “guilty, guilty” during a break in the proceedings lacked context and, therefore, did not demonstrate premature deliberations had actually occurred).

Critically, because the overheard remarks were limited and ambiguous, the first portion of the trial judge’s analysis of the premature deliberations claim he had been confronted with largely hinged on the determinations he made about the credibility of the witnesses and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence presented, which were matters resting almost exclusively in his discretion. See Kelly, 331 S.C. at 141, 502 S.E.2d at 104 (“The trial judge is in the best position to determine the credibility of the jurors; therefore, [the appellate court] should grant him broad deference on this issue.”); State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 41, 479 S.E.2d 57, 59 (1996) (“A juror’s competence is within the trial judge’s discretion and is not reviewable on appeal unless wholly unsupported by the evidence.”). Those determinations were further complicated here by the fact the trial judge indicated he believed both the jurors’ accusers’ statements about what they overheard *and* the jurors’ assertions they had not discussed the case.

And, there was still the matter of prejudice, which was something Appellant bore a heavy burden to establish. See Ethier v. Fairfield Mem'l Hosp., 429 S.C. 649, 655, 842 S.E.2d 355, 359 (2020) (recognizing the burden to demonstrate prejudice from premature deliberations is a “high” one); see also United States v. York, 600 F.3d 347, 358 (5th Cir. 2010) (“[I]n evaluating a claim of juror misconduct, the law also presumes that the jury is impartial and the burden rests on the defendant to show otherwise.”); cf. State v. Wood, 608 S.E.2d 368, 370 (N.C. Ct. App. 2005) (“While the jurors’ lunch conversations did violate the judge’s instructions by discussing the demeanor of witnesses before the close of all evidence, this misconduct did not substantially and irreparably prejudice Defendant’s case. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a mistrial.” (citations omitted)).

No matter what, though, the fairness and impartiality of the jury in Appellant’s case could not possibly have been compromised by the alleged premature deliberations *if* the three jurors supposedly involved in those deliberations were removed from it. See State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 460, 469 S.E.2d 49, 52 (1996) (recognizing any possible prejudice that could result from a particular juror’s presence on a jury is generally eliminated when that juror is removed from the jury). Recognizing that fact, the trial judge—*before* ruling on defense counsel’s mistrial motion—proposed a remedial measure that, if agreed to by the parties, would have eliminated any possibility of prejudice along with the need for the trial judge to complete his analysis of the premature deliberations claim. And, that remedy—proceeding forward with only eleven jurors—was one that: (1) was expressly permitted by South Carolina law; and (2) would not adversely impact the fairness of the trial for either side. Rule 14(a), SCRCrimP; see Williams, 399 U.S. at 101-102 (“In short, neither currently available evidence nor theory suggests that the 12-man jury is necessarily more advantageous to the defendant than a jury

composed of fewer members.” (footnote omitted)). Therefore, the trial judge committed no error whatsoever by proposing that permissible remedial measure to the parties. See Crosby v. Seaboard Air Line Ry., 81 S.C. 24, \_\_\_, 61 S.E. 1064, 1065 (1908) (concluding the trial judge did nothing improper by asking the parties whether they were willing to consent to proceeding forward with eleven jurors prior to granting a mistrial based on the unavailability of a juror); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 227, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999) (“[T]he trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial.”).

And, in proposing that available remedial measure, the trial judge did not present Appellant with a “Hobson’s choice” of any kind. Instead, the trial judge—on multiple occasions—made it clear to everyone he had *not* yet reached a decision on the mistrial motion before inquiring if the parties would be willing to go forward with a jury comprised of only eleven members. Cf. State v. Mueller, 319 S.C. 266, 269, 460 S.E.2d 409, 411 (1995) (“[I]f a party has *obtained a final ruling* on the admissibility of impeachment evidence, that party does not lose his right to challenge on appeal the admissibility of the evidence by eliciting the evidence during direct examination.” (emphasis added)). Thus, Appellant was free to voluntarily agree to the remedial measure proposed by the trial judge or continue with his claim a mistrial was warranted. See United States v. Mezzanatto, 513 U.S. 196, 209 (1995) (recognizing criminal defendants face “a number of difficult choices” routinely as a part of the criminal justice process and the imposition of such choices is not automatically improper); South Dakota v. Neville, 459 U.S. 553, 564 (1983) (“[T]he criminal process often requires suspects and defendants to make difficult choices.”); Middendorf v. Henry, 425 U.S. 25, 48 (1976) (“The criminal process, like the rest of the legal system, is replete with situations requiring the making of difficult judgments as to which course to follow. Although a defendant may have a right,

even of constitutional dimensions, to follow whichever course he chooses, the Constitution does not by that token always forbid requiring him to choose.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)); see also Corbitt v. New Jersey, 439 U.S. 212, 218 (1978) (“The cases in this Court . . . have clearly established that not every burden on the exercise of a constitutional right, and not every pressure or encouragement to waive such a right, is invalid.”).

After consulting with defense counsel, Appellant freely and voluntarily agreed to the remedial measure, and that agreement—consistent with South Carolina law—was reduced to writing. Rule 14(a), SCRCrimP; cf. People v. Waters, 641 P.2d 292, 293-294 (Colo. App. 1981) (concluding a criminal defendant validly waived his right to have his case decided by twelve jurors when defense counsel—after consultation with the defendant—agreed to a particular juror being excused and the trial proceeding forward with only eleven jurors remaining in the presence of the defendant, who “voiced no objection to his counsel’s statements”). By doing so, Appellant authorized the trial judge to correct any possible prejudice that could have been caused by the alleged premature deliberations, and the trial judge did just that by proceeding forward with an eleven-member jury that no longer contained any of the jurors that had been accused of engaging in the premature deliberations.<sup>16</sup> Under such circumstances, no conceivable prejudice

---

<sup>16</sup> Notably, the Texas Court of Appeals in Roberts v. State, 987 S.W.2d 160 (Tex. App. 1999), was confronted with an issue somewhat analogous to the one at the heart of Appellant’s case. During Roberts’s trial for several counts of aggravated robbery, a juror during a lunch break—after having been admonished not to discuss the facts of the case with anyone—ended up eating his meal with an officer involved in the case who had not yet testified. Id. at 161. The two casually chatted as they dined together, but, according to both, they never at any point discussed Roberts’s case. Id. Once that information came to light, the trial judge swiftly conducted an inquiry into the matter, and the juror acknowledged the contact but affirmed the discussions that occurred would not affect his ability to fairly decide the case. Id. Following that, defense counsel moved for a mistrial based on what had occurred. Id. However, the trial judge expressly denied the mistrial motion after the prosecutor confirmed the State would no longer call the officer as a witness. Id. At that point, defense counsel asked the trial judge to remove the juror and proceed forward with only the eleven remaining jurors, and the trial judge did just that. Id.

from the premature deliberations remained, and, resultantly, there could not possibly have been any manifest necessity that would have justified the grant of a mistrial. See Kelly, 331 S.C. at 142, 502 S.E.2d at 104 (“A mistrial should not be granted unless absolutely necessary. Instead, the trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial. In order to receive a mistrial, the defendant must show error and resulting prejudice.” (citations omitted)); cf. Patterson, 337 S.C. at 227-228, 522 S.E.2d at 851 (concluding the trial judge’s remedial measure “cured any possible error and eliminated any conceivable prejudice” such that “[n]o manifest necessity for declaring a mistrial existed”).

Despite that, Appellant now contends his conviction should nevertheless be struck down on appeal because—even though none of the jurors that decided his case were alleged to have been involved in any premature deliberations—the trial judge should have found the three *removed* jurors engaged in such improper deliberations in a manner sufficiently prejudicial to warrant the grant of a mistrial prior to their removal. But the trial judge did not—as Appellant readily concedes on appeal—actually rule upon the mistrial motion, so there is no mistrial ruling to now review. See State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. If the issue is raised *but not ruled on*, it is not preserved for appeal.” (emphasis added)); see also State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) (“Only matter that has been

---

Roberts was subsequently convicted, received a life sentence, and appealed, arguing—in part—the trial judge erred by proceeding forward with eleven jurors *and* by denying his mistrial motion. Id. at 161-162. On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed. Id. In doing so, the Court of Appeals found it was proper under Texas law to continue the trial with eleven jurors since the parties agreed to do so based on the request made. Id. Furthermore and more importantly, the Court of Appeals likewise found Roberts could no longer properly complain on appeal about the trial judge’s failure to grant a mistrial because, since the juror at issue was removed and the trial permissibly proceeded forward with less than twelve jurors by agreement of the parties, any issue concerning the denial of the request for a mistrial was “rendered moot.” Id. at 162.

ruled on below can be reviewed[.]”). Similarly, since Appellant did not demand the trial judge first rule on the mistrial motion before he chose to accept the remedial measure, he cannot validly contend the trial judge erred by failing to do so on appeal pursuant to well-established South Carolina law.<sup>17</sup> See Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (recognizing a party is *required* to seek a ruling “when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review”); see also State v. Stone, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 489 (2007) (“If a pitch was never thrown at trial, we cannot review whether the trial court made the proper call.”); cf. State v. Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 85, 577 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2003) (finding any issue resulting from the trial judge’s failure to individually question the jurors after a jury note was submitted to the court was not preserved for appellate review because Vang did not request individual questioning of the jurors after the trial judge spoke with the jury foreman and determined further inquiry was unnecessary). Furthermore, since Appellant agreed to the remedial measure in writing, he received exactly what he asked for

---

<sup>17</sup> Instead of demanding such a ruling, Appellant chose to agree to and proceed forward with an eleven-member jury and then wait to see what that jury’s verdict would be. (R. p. 499; p. 553). Thereafter, when that verdict ended up being one not to his liking, Appellant attempted to renew his mistrial motion related to the premature deliberations. (R. p. 554; p. 560). For obvious reasons, that post-verdict motion could not fairly be treated as having been a valid or timely one. See State v. Burnett, 226 S.C. 421, 424, 85 S.E.2d 744, 746 (1954) (“A defendant may not reserve vices in his trial, of which he has notice as here, taking his chances of a favorable verdict, and in case of disappointment, use the error to obtain another trial.”); State v. Ballew, 83 S.C. 82, \_\_\_, 63 S.E. 688, 690 (1909) (“The general principle that a party cannot take his chances of a successful issue, reserving vices in the trial, of which he has notice, for use in case of disappointment, is universally recognized and obviously just. It has been often applied in this state when the defendant has failed to make known his objection to individual jurors or to the panel until after the trial.”); cf. Aldret, 333 S.C. at 312, 509 S.E.2d at 813 (holding Aldret’s premature deliberations claim was not properly preserved for appellate review because he was aware of the issue prior to the verdict but first raised the issue on the record after the verdict); State v. Penland, 275 S.C. 537, 538, 273 S.E.2d 765, 766 (1981) (“Although counsel objected to the remarks of the solicitor during closing arguments, a motion for mistrial was not made until after the verdict. One may not preserve a vice until he learns what the result will be and then, take advantage of the error on appeal.”).

and, thus, cannot validly complain about the trial judge following a course of action to which he provided his written consent. See State v. Brown, 389 S.C. 84, 95, 697 S.E.2d 622, 628 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Counsel got the relief asked for and cannot complain on appeal.”); State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”). For those reasons, any issue Appellant may have had with the alleged premature deliberations was waived and can no longer validly be raised or considered on appeal. See Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004) (recognizing South Carolina’s issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**